THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-40-03697
Appellate Case No. 2018-000889

RECEIVED
AUG 30 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Amanda Leigh Huskins and Jay R. Huskins,..... Appellants,

v.

Mungo Homes, LLC,.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Charles H. McDonald [SC Bar # 11580]
Belser & Belser, P.A.
Post Office Box 96
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 999-1260

Terry E. Richardson, Jr. [SC Bar # 4721]
Matthew A. Nickles [SC Bar # 80364]
Brady R. Thomas [SC Bar # 72530]
Richardson, Patrick, Westbrook & Brickman, LLC
P.O. Box 1368
Barnwell, SC 29812

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in construing the plain language of the Purchase Agreement's "Arbitration and Claims" provision as restricting the time for Mungo Homes to move to compel arbitration rather than restricting the statutory time otherwise afforded to the Huskins to assert a claim related to the contract, all to find that the "Arbitration and Claims" provision itself was not one-sided, oppressive, and unconscionable?
- II. Did the circuit court err in finding that the arbitration provision applied mutually to Mungo Homes and its purchasers when Mungo would have no reason to assert a claim against a purchaser after receiving full payment at closing?
- III. When the Purchase Agreement's "Arbitration and Claims" provision is expansive in scope, including claims arising under and related to the Purchase Agreement's "Limited Warranty" provision, and when these two provisions also cross-reference one another, did the circuit court err in failing to consider the one-sided and oppressive terms of the "Limited Warranty" provision as part of the agreement to arbitrate and correspondingly find the agreement to arbitrate one-sided, oppressive, and unconscionable?
- IV. If the Purchase Agreement's "Arbitration and Claims" provision does not include claims arising under the "Limited Warranty" provision, did the circuit court err in granting Respondent's motion to dismiss Appellants' action that involves claims falling under the "Limited Warranty" provision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Amanda Leigh Huskins and Jay R. Huskins ("Huskins") filed this action in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas seeking monetary and declaratory relief based upon certain warranty waivers in Mungo Homes' proprietary "Purchase Agreement" on June 14, 2017. In response, Mungo Homes filed its Motion to Dismiss and to Compel Arbitration on July 17, 2017. The Honorable DeAndrea Gist Benjamin then heard Mungo's Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration on November 8, 2017, and issued an Order granting Mungo's Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration on March 13, 2018. The Huskins filed their Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment pursuant to Rules 52(b) and 59(e), SCRCP, to which Judge Benjamin issued a Form 4 Order denying the Huskins' Motion for Reconsideration on April 16, 2018. The Huskins

filed and served their Notice of Appeal on May 11, 2018, seeking review of the trial court's grant of Mungo's Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration and the court's denial of the Huskins' Motion for Reconsideration.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Amanda and Jay Huskins are purchasers of a new home from Mungo Homes, a large builder and seller of homes in South Carolina. (R. at ____ Complaint.) On June 29, 2015, the Huskins executed Mungo Home's proprietary "Purchase Agreement" for the purchase of real property with a new home situated thereon to be built by Mungo in Richland County, South Carolina. (R. at ____ Complaint, Ex. 1.) The Purchase Agreement disclaims fundamental warranty rights implied by law in South Carolina in connection with the sale of a new home. One of the implied warranties that Mungo requires its purchasers waive is the implied warranty of habitability.

Specifically, the Purchase Agreement's "LIMITED WARRANTY" provides:

The Seller to furnish the Purchaser, at closing, a limited warranty issued by Quality Builders Warranty Corporation, a sample copy of which is available for inspection prior to closing at the offices of the Seller during reasonable business hours, said limited warranty is hereinafter referred to as the Quality Builders Warranty Corporation Limited Warranty.

THE QUALITY BUILDERS WARRANTY CORPORATION LIMITED WARRANTY ISSUED TO THE PURCHASER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS TRANSACTION IS IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, ANY WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY, SUITABILITY FOR RESIDENTIAL PURPOSES, MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSES IS HEREBY EXCLUDED AND DISCLAIMED. SELLER SHALL IN NO EVENT BE LIABLE FOR CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES OF ANY KIND. THERE IS NO WARRANTY WHATSOEVER ON TREES, SHRUBS, GRASS, VEGETATION OR EROSION CAUSED BY LACK THEREOF NOR ON SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENTS INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, STREETS, ROADS, SIDEWALKS, SEWER, DRAINAGE, OR UTILITIES. PURCHASER AGREES TO ACCEPT LIMITED WARRANTY IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER RIGHTS OR REMEDIES,

WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT OR TORT. This limited warranty will be incorporated in the deed delivered at closing.

(R. at ____ Complaint, Ex. 1.)

As the Complaint alleges, under well-established law, the “warranty of habitability” is implied in the sale of all new homes in South Carolina. Recognizing the importance of this implied warranty, and the relative sophistication of homebuilders such as Mungo vis-à-vis a new home buyer, the South Carolina Supreme Court pronounced that the warranty of habitability cannot be waived or disclaimed unless the waiver is (1) conspicuous; (2) known to the buyer; and (3) specifically bargained for. *Kirkman v. Parex*, 369 S.C. 477, 485, 632 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2006). Nevertheless, in contravention to this long-standing precedent, Mungo requires all new home buyers, including the Huskins, to waive the warranty of habitability without providing these homebuyers any compensation or separate consideration for such waiver. (R. at ____ Complaint, Ex. 1 at “Limited Warranty”).¹ In their Complaint, the Huskins ask: (1) the Court to declare as a matter of law that Mungo cannot waive the implied warranty of habitability without paying its customers such as the Huskins adequate consideration for such waiver, and (2) a jury to determine that the Huskins may recover the fair value of the waiver to which Mungo unjustly enriched itself or extracted in breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing in contract. (R. at ____ Complaint.)

In addition to the broad disclaimer of warranty rights, Mungo’s Purchase Agreement contains other significant limitations on the rights and remedies afforded to the purchaser of a Mungo home. Mungo’s Purchase Agreement requires that all claims related to the Purchase

¹ Although not the subject of this action, consistent with its scheme to avoid standing behind its residential homes, Mungo also disclaims and refuses to warrant that its homes are even suitable for a “residential purpose.” (R. at _____, Complaint, Exhibit 1 at “Limited Warranty.”)

Agreement be sent to arbitration. (R. at ____ Complaint.) Specifically, the “ARBITRATION AND CLAIMS PROVISION” provides:

Any claim, dispute or other matter in question between the parties hereto arising out of this Agreement, related to this Agreement or the breach thereof, including without limitation, disputes relating to the Property, improvements, or the condition, construction or sale thereof and the deed to be delivered pursuant hereto, shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration before three (3) arbitrators, one selected by each party, who shall mutually select the third, pursuant to the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act. Arbitration shall be commenced by a written demand for arbitration to the other party specifying the issues for arbitration and designating the demanding parties selected arbitrator. Each and every demand for arbitration shall be made within ninety (90) days after the claim, dispute or other matter in question has arisen, except that any claim, dispute or matter in question arising from either party’s termination of this Agreement shall be made within thirty (30) days of the written notice of termination. *Any claim, dispute or other matter in question not asserted within said time periods shall be deemed waived and forever barred.*

(R. at ____ Complaint, Ex. 1 (emphasis added).)

Pursuant to this “Arbitration and Claims” provision, Mungo Homes filed its motion to dismiss and compel arbitration. The Huskins opposed the motion because the “Arbitration and Claims” provision was unconscionable and therefore unenforceable. Specifically, the Huskins argued the Purchase Agreement was a contract of adhesion and one-sidedly and oppressively limited the scope of remedies and time to assert causes of action otherwise available to the Huskins at law and was not mutually applicable to the parties. However, the trial court granted Mungo Homes’ motion, ruling that although the Huskins lacked meaningful choice to arbitrate their claims because they do not possess business judgment, did not have counsel, and were not a substantial business concern, the arbitration agreement was not one-sided and oppressive. (R. at ____ Order.) In concluding that the “Arbitration and Claims” provision was not one-sided and oppressive, the Court found (1) the “Arbitration and Claims” and “Limited Warranty” provisions should be analyzed in isolation from one another and therefore the “Arbitration and Claims” provision does

not limit the Huskins' from asserting warranty claims in a judicial forum, (2) the 90-day limitation set forth in the "Arbitration and Claims" provision applied to Mungo Homes' time to move to dismiss or stay a judicial action and compel arbitration, and not to the time in which a party could bring a claim related to the Purchase Agreement in arbitration, and (3) that the procedures set forth for arbitration of a claim applied equally to both parties. (R. at ___ Order at 10-13.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to *de novo* review. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). A circuit court's factual findings, if any, however, will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings. *See Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of South Carolina*, 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007).

ARGUMENT

For decades, South Carolina's courts have made clear that protecting the rights of the new home buyer is an important public policy of this State. *See, e.g., Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber Co.*, 299 S.C. 335, 384 S.E.2d 730 (1989); *Lane v. Trenholm Bldg. Co.*, 267 S.C. 49, 229 S.E.2d 728 (1976). Our courts have also recognized "that a modern buyer of new residential housing is normally in an unequal bargaining position as against the seller." *Kennedy*, 299 S.C. at 343, 384 S.E.2d at 735-36. The Huskins now come before this Court seeking the same judicial protections that have historically been afforded new home purchasers like themselves when dealing with a sophisticated seller of new homes such as Mungo. In deciding this appeal, this Court should protect the Huskins from the harm that would be suffered by the application of the one-sided and oppressive terms of Mungo's "take it or leave it" Purchase Agreement and reverse the trial court's erroneous ruling allowing enforcement of Mungo's unconscionable arbitration clause.

- I. The circuit court erred in construing the plain language of the Purchase Agreement’s “Arbitration and Claims” provision as restricting the time for Mungo to move to compel arbitration rather than restricting the statutory time otherwise afforded to the Huskins to assert a claim related to the contract, leading to an erroneous finding that the “Arbitration and Claims” provision itself was not one-sided, oppressive and unconscionable as a matter of law.**

The Court mistakenly concluded that the ninety-day “limitations period” set forth in the “Arbitration and Claims” provision related only to the time Mungo had to move to compel arbitration after the Huskins filed their Complaint. (R. at ____ Order at 11.). The plain language of the “Arbitration and Claims” provision does not allow for such interpretation. Clearly, this provision creates a time limit for a party, such as the Huskins, to bring a claim once the claim has arisen. Furthermore, to the extent this provision could be considered ambiguous, it must be construed against its drafter, Mungo Homes, and in favor of the Huskins.

The plain language of the “Arbitration and Claims” provision shows it is a time limit for the Huskins to bring their claim. The first sentence of the “Arbitration and Claims” provision defines the expansive scope of any claims, disputes, or other matters to which the mandatory and binding arbitration “shall” apply and the circumstances in which the mandatory and binding arbitration shall take place. Then, the “Arbitration and Claims” provision outlines how the party with the claims, disputes, or other matters in need of resolution subject to mandatory and binding arbitration shall “commence[.]” arbitration, noting that such process must be by written demand, specifying the issues and designating an arbitrator. Importantly, the “Arbitration and Claims” provision then sets the deadline for a party to make a claim:

Each and every demand shall be made within ninety (90) days after the claim, dispute or other matter in question has arisen, except for any claim, dispute or matter in question arising from either party’s termination of this Agreement which shall be made within thirty (30) days of the written notice of termination. *Any*

claim, dispute or other matter not asserted within said time periods shall be deemed waived and forever barred.

(R. at ___ Complaint, Ex. 1 (emphasis added).) The “Arbitration and Claims” provision thus plainly restricts the time frame in which a party with claims, disputes, or other matters falling within the scope of the mandatory and binding arbitration provision can demand resolution. Depending on the circumstances, those claims, disputes, or other matters must be demanded for resolution through arbitration within 90 or 30 days of the date on which those claims, disputes, or other issues arose, or such claims will be lost forever. The last sentence of the paragraph leaves no room for any other interpretation, noting “[a]ny claim, dispute or other matter not asserted within said time periods shall be deemed waived and forever barred.” In other words, the clause operates as a 90 or 30-day limitations period for an aggrieved party to bring a claim once that claim has arisen.

However, the trial court found this clause defined only when Mungo must move to compel arbitration after a case has been filed in court. Specifically, the court construed this clause to mean that Mungo had 90 days to file a motion to dismiss or compel arbitration after the Huskins filed their Complaint. (R. at ___ Order at 11). Contrary to the court’s finding, however, this language has nothing to do with the time in which Mungo must move to compel arbitration after being served with a Complaint. Mungo is not “commenc[ing]” any arbitration against the Huskins by moving to dismiss this action and compel arbitration. Mungo seeks only to foreclose this judicial forum to the Huskins and require the Huskins, not Mungo, to “commence” their claims in mandatory and binding arbitration under the “Arbitration and Claims” provision. It is irrelevant how long it took Mungo to file its motion to compel arbitration. The ninety- and thirty-day limitation periods in Mungo’s arbitration clause relates solely to the party asserting a claim, which,

in this case, is the Huskins. Accordingly, the arbitration provision, by its plain language, seeks to bar any claim asserted more than 90 or 30 days after the claim arose.

Although the contract language is clear, to the extent there is any ambiguity as to the meaning of the 90- and 30-day limitation periods in the “Arbitration and Claims” provision, the Court must construe any doubts and ambiguities against the drafter. *Mathis v. Brown & Brown of S.C., Inc.*, 389 S.C. 299, 309, 698 S.E.2d 773, 778 (2010). “This rule applies with particular force in cases involving a contract of adhesion.” *S. Atl. Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Middleton*, 349 S.C. 77, 84, 562 S.E.2d 482, 486 (Ct. App. 2002), *aff’d as modified*, 356 S.C. 444, 590 S.E.2d 27 (2003). Because the plain language of the arbitration provision controls and any ambiguity must be construed against its drafter, this Court should find that the circuit court erred in construing the Purchase Agreement’s “Arbitration and Claims” provision as restricting the time for Mungo to move to compel arbitration rather than restricting the statutory time otherwise afforded to the Huskins to assert a claim related to the contract.

Importantly, Mungo’s oppressive 90-day limitation period violates South Carolina law. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-140. That statute provides that a party may not restrict through contract South Carolina’s statute of limitations period for bringing a claim. *See also Scott v. Guardsmark Security*, 874 F. Supp. 117, 121 (D.S.C. 1995) (holding that a contractual provision reducing a statute of limitations is void pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-140 and further finding that the defendant’s efforts to shorten a federally mandated time limit for asserting claims was “abhorrent to public policy.”). Here, that is exactly what Mungo is trying to do. Mungo, in its form contract, is improperly restricting the limitations period for its customers to bring a claim from three years to 90 days.

Because the “Arbitration and Claims” provision violates South Carolina law and drastically shortens (from three years to 90 or, in some instances, 30 days) the time in which a party may bring a claim, dispute, or other matter under the contract, the trial court erred in concluding that the “Arbitration and Claims” provision was not one-sided, oppressive, and unconscionable. The Court should recognize that Mungo, a sophisticated entity and one of the nation’s largest sellers of new homes, either knows or certainly should know that it cannot legally shorten the applicable statute of limitations in South Carolina. Nevertheless, Mungo includes such a provision in its standard-form Purchase Agreement presented to its numerous customers. Because Mungo’s arbitration provision violates South Carolina public policy to safeguard the applicable statutory limitations period for asserting claims as set forth in § 15-3-140, it is not only one-sided and oppressive but unconscionable and unenforceable as a matter of law. *See Scott, supra; see also Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 42, 50 n.6, 790 S.E.2d 1, 5 n.6 (2016) (concluding that oppressive and one-sided terms in arbitration clause could not be severed to save the rest where no severability clause was included therein).

Furthermore, while the trial court correctly concluded that a “clearly identified, mutual arbitration provision that does not limit remedies available by law” is indicative of a non-oppressive arbitration clause, (R. at ___ Order at 11), such is not the case here. Mungo’s unlawful restriction on the time limit for bringing a claim for relief is an extreme limitation on **all** remedies available at law. Imposing such a short time frame for a purchaser to make a claim for relief is clearly an intentional (and unconscionable) effort by Mungo to significantly limit its liability at the expense of the new home purchaser. Moreover, the case relied upon by the trial court as support for its finding, *Carlson v. South Carolina State Plastering, LLC*, 404 S.C. 250, 743 S.E.2d 868 (Ct. App. 2013), is instructive as to this issue. In *Carlson*, the Court of Appeals refused to

consider whether a contractual provision limiting the statute of limitations for bringing claims to two years was relevant to the determination of whether the arbitration clause at issue was unconscionable on the grounds that such provision was not a part of the contract's arbitration clause. *See Carlson*, 404 S.C. at 260, 743 S.E.2d at 873-74. However, unlike the time restriction at issue in *Carlson*, Mungo's provision shortening the statute of limitations is a prominent part of Mungo's arbitration clause. In addition, the unconscionable nature of Mungo's 90-day (or 30-day) time limitation is made even clearer when contrasting it to the one present in *Carlson* which at least provided a two-year period for bringing a claim against the builder. *See id.*

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