THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2017-CP-40-03697
Appellate Case No. 2018-000889

RECEIVED

FEB 15 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Amanda Leigh Huskins and Jay R. Huskins.....Appellants,

v.

Mungo Homes, LLC,.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MUNGO HOMES, LLC

This 13th day of February 2019.

Steven R. Kropski
David W. Overstreet
Earhart Overstreet LLC
P.O. Box 22528
Charleston, South Carolina 29413
(843) 972-9404
Attorneys for Mungo Homes, LLC

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

ARGUMENT

I. Orders compelling arbitration are not immediately appealable, and this appeal should be dismissed

It is well established in South Carolina that an order compelling arbitration is not immediately appealable. S.C. Code §15-48-200(a) states:

- (a) An appeal may be taken from:
- (1) An order denying an application to compel arbitration made under § 15-48-20;
 - (2) An order granting an application to stay arbitration made under § 15-48-20(b);
 - (3) An order confirming or denying confirmation of an award;
 - (4) An order modifying or correcting an award;
 - (5) An order vacating an award without directing a rehearing; or
 - (6) A judgment or decree entered pursuant to the provisions of this chapter.
- (b) The appeal shall be taken in the manner and to the same extent as from orders or judgments in a civil action.

As is clear from the plain language of the statute, while an order *denying* a motion to compel arbitration is immediately appealable, an order granting a motion to compel arbitration is not immediately appealable. S.C. Code §15-48-200. This is confirmed as the Supreme Court of South Carolina has repeatedly recognized that an order compelling arbitration is not immediately appealable. *See, Toler's Cove*, 355 S.C. at 611, 586 S.E.2d at 584; *Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United Healthcare Services, Inc.*, 361 S.C. 544, 558, 606 S.E.2d 752, 759 (2004).

Here, each of Appellants' first three issues on appeal exclusively address whether the Circuit Court correctly held that the Arbitration Agreement was not one-sided, oppressive or unconscionable. (App. Brief at pg. 1). These three issues are not immediately appealable as they challenge an order compelling arbitration.

Appellants' fourth issue on appeal seeks to challenge the Circuit Court's finding that the Appellants' claims challenging the "Limited Warranty" paragraph of the Contract fell within the

broad scope of the Arbitration Agreement. (Id.). This issue is likewise not immediately appealable as it challenges an order compelling arbitration of Appellant's alleged "Limited Warranty" claims.

In all respects, all four of Appellants' issues on appeal seek to immediately appeal the Circuit Court's order holding that Appellants' claims must be arbitrated. These issues are not immediately appealable.

Finally, as the Appellants have not identified *any* immediately appealable issue in their statement of issues on appeal, this appeal must be dismissed in its entirety. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (citing Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR) ("no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal.").

II. Although the Circuit Court's order is not immediately appealable, the Circuit Court did not err in finding the Appellants' claims subject to arbitration

"The question of the arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination, unless the parties provide otherwise." *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). "It is the policy of this state and federal law to favor arbitration[,] and any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration." *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Co.*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013) (quoting *Am. Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging, Inc.*, 96 F.3d 88, 92 (4th Cir.1996)). "[T]he party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration." *Hall v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC*, 413 S.C. 267, 271, 776 S.E.2d 91, 94 (Ct. App. 2015).

Here, Appellants entered into a contract to purchase a home to be built by Mungo that contains a broad arbitration clause covering "[a]ny claim, dispute, or other matter in question between the parties hereto arising out of this Agreement." (R.). Moreover, the first page of the Contract contains the following provision in bold, underlined, capital letters: **"THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE S.C. UNIFORM**

ARBITRATION ACT, S.C. CODE 15-48-10 et seq.” (R.). The Arbitration Agreement is conspicuous, in compliance with South Carolina law, and broadly covers all disputes between the parties related to the Contract and the real property that is the subject of the Contract.

A. The Circuit Court correctly determined that the Arbitration Agreement is not one-sided, oppressive, or unconscionable

i. The Circuit Court correctly read the Arbitration Agreement in isolation of the rest of the Contract

It is well established that where a contract contains a separate and isolated arbitration agreement, the arbitration agreement is read in isolation of the remainder of the Contract. Only the arbitration agreement itself is to be analyzed by a court, with all other issues, including the conscionability of the remainder of the Contract, to be decided by the arbitrator.

“An arbitration clause's validity is distinct from the substantive validity of the contract as a whole.” *Housing Auth. of the City of Columbia v. Cornerstone Housing*, 356 S.C. 328, 338, 588 S.E.2d 617, 622 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 540, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (2001)); *see also Parsons v. John Weiland Homes and Neighborhoods of the Carolinas*, 481 S.C. 1, 12, 791 S.E.2d 128 (2016)(“Arbitration clauses are separable from the contracts in which they are imbedded”). “Even if the overall contract is unenforceable, the arbitration provision is not unenforceable unless the reason the overall contract is unenforceable specifically relates to the arbitration provision.” *Cornerstone Housing*, 356 S.C. at 340, 588 S.E.2d at 623. The argument that the entire Contract is invalid is for consideration at the arbitration itself, not for determination by the Court. *Id.* at 340, 588 S.E.2d at 623; *see also Green Tree Fin. Corp. v. Bazzle*, 539 U.S. 444, 453, 123 S.Ct. 2402 (2003)(noting arbitrators are well suited to address issues such as contract interpretation and arbitration procedures).

Here the Arbitration Agreement is separate and distinct from the remainder of the Contract, and the Circuit Court correctly analyzed only the Arbitration Agreement itself to assess the conscionability of the Arbitration Agreement.

Appellants, however, contend that the “Limited Warranty” paragraph of the Contract is unconscionable, and should be read together with the Arbitration Agreement. This argument is contrary to well established South Carolina law, and without merit.

In the order granting Mungo’s motion, the Circuit Court correctly identified that “the “Limited Warranty” provision is located on the second page of the Purchase Agreement whereas the “Arbitration and Claims” provision is located at the top of page three.” (R.). Likewise, the Circuit Court noted that “the arbitration provision does not [cross] reference the “Limited Warranty” provision contained in the Purchase Agreement.” (R.). Consistent with well established law, the Circuit Court correctly found that when an Arbitration Agreement is separately identified, and does not cross-reference other provisions in the Contract, the Arbitration Agreement is read in isolation. *See, One Belle Hall Property Owners Assoc., Inc. v. Trammell Crow Residential Company*, 418 S.C. 51, 56-58, 791 S.E.2d 286, 289-290 (Ct. App. 2016).

Likewise unavailing is Appellants’ argument that the Arbitration Agreement’s broad scope which encompasses “disputes relating to the Property, Improvements, or the condition, construction or sale [of the Property] and the deed to be delivered pursuant hereto” (R.) operates as a “cross-reference” to the “Limited Warranty” provision.

Appellants cite no legal authority to support this position, and furthermore, ignore the plain and unambiguous language of the Arbitration Agreement. While the Arbitration Agreement broadly covers all disputes between the parties related to the Contract or the Property, it unequivocally *does not* cross-reference the “Limited Warranty” paragraph. Accordingly, the

Circuit Court correctly rejected Appellants' argument. *C.A.N. Enters. v. S.C. Health & Human Servs. Finance Comm'n*, 296 S.C. 373, 378, 373 S.E.2d 584, 587 (1988)(courts “are without authority to alter a contract by construction or to make new contracts for the parties.”).

ii. The Arbitration Agreement is not unconscionable

In South Carolina, unconscionability is defined as “the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them, and no fair and honest person would accept them.” *Carolina Care* 361 S.C. at 554, 606 S.E.2d at 757. Specifically relating to arbitration agreements, the South Carolina Supreme Court has instructed that “unconscionability requires courts to focus generally on whether the arbitration clause is geared towards achieving an unbiased decision by a neutral decision-maker”. *Parsons*, 481 S.C. at 12, 791 S.E.2d at 134.

Here, there was no “element of surprise in the inclusion of the challenged clause,” the arbitration provision was clearly conspicuous, and there is no merit to the suggestion that no reasonable person would enter into the Arbitration Agreement. *See generally, Holler v. Holler*, 364 S.C. 256, 269, 612 S.E.2d 469, 476 (Ct. App. 2005). Appellants initialed directly below the Arbitration Agreement. (R.). Furthermore, the heading “ARBITRATION AND CLAIMS” is in bold, underlined, and capital letters and the front page of the contract states “THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE 15-48-10 ET SEQ.” *See*, S.C. Code §15-48-10 (under the SCUAA, an agreement containing the required notice is presumptively valid).

Moreover, as the Circuit Court recognized, the Arbitration Agreement unequivocally provides for an unbiased decision by a neutral decision-maker, is mutual, and does not limit the remedies available by law. This indicates a non-oppressive or one-sided arbitration agreement.

(R.). The Arbitration Agreement calls for binding arbitration before a three-arbitrator panel; one selected by the Plaintiff, one selected by the Defendant, and one selected mutually by the parties' respective arbitrators. (R.). Likewise, the Arbitration Agreement applies equally to any and all claims asserted by the Appellants just as it applies to any and all claims asserted by Mungo. The Circuit Court correctly found that Arbitration Agreement is not one-sided or oppressive. (R.).

Appellants further contend that a "general presumption of unequal bargaining power between a new home buyer and a residential builder" results in an unenforceable Arbitration Agreement. However, this argument is again unsupported by legal authority and simply misstates the law. Such a presumption is contrary to South Carolina law as it would put the arbitration agreement on unequal footing with any other contract clause. A "presumption of unequal bargaining power" is not a "generally applicable contract defense." See, *Concepcion*, 563 S.C. at 339, 131 S.Ct. at 1746.

More importantly, Appellants' exact argument was expressly rejected by the Supreme Court of South Carolina. *Parsons*, 481 S.C. at fn 6, 791 S.E.2d 128 (rejecting the dissent's proposition that the Supreme Court's judicial notice "that a modern buyer of new residential housing is normally in an unequal bargaining position as against the seller" can be applied to an arbitration agreement in a contract for the construction of a new home). Accordingly, there is no judicially noted presumption of unequal bargaining power between a new home buyer and the homebuilder when reviewing the enforceability of an arbitration agreement.

Finally, the provision in the Arbitration Agreement requiring a demand for arbitration within ninety (90) days of the date a claim arises does not render the arbitration agreement against public policy. As the Circuit Court noted, this action was filed on June 14, 2017. (R.). Mungo filed this motion to compel arbitration on July 20, 2017--well within the ninety (90) requirement.

(R.). Moreover, contrary to Appellants' contention, this provision does not purport to create an unlawful statute of limitations, rather, it provides a deadline on when arbitration of claims must be demanded.

Nonetheless, assuming, *arguendo*, that the subject provision did attempt to alter the statute of limitations, the provision has no bearing on the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement. Rather, even if the subject provision is struck from the Arbitration Agreement, the substance of the Arbitration Agreement is wholly unaffected. S.C. Code §15-3-140 states:

No clause, provision or agreement in any contract of whatsoever nature, verbal or written, whereby it is agreed that either party shall be barred from bringing suit upon any cause of action arising out of the contract if not brought within a period less than the time prescribed by the statute of limitations, for similar causes of action, shall bar such action, but the action may be brought notwithstanding such clause, provision or agreement if brought within the time prescribed by the statute of limitations in reference to like causes of action.

S.C. Code §15-3-140. In other words, a contractual provision purporting to shorten the statute of limitations is void *ab initio*. Thus, it is treated as if it was never part of the Contract.

Here, even if these two sentences are removed from the Arbitration Agreement, the obligation of the parties to submit all claims to arbitration is left wholly intact. As the Appellants only challenge the last two sentences of the Arbitration Agreement, striking this provision would not "rewrite" the Arbitration Agreement. Indeed, the Arbitration Agreement would still read as a full and complete mutual obligation to submit all claims to arbitration. *See generally, One Belle Hall*, 418 S.C. at 63-64, 791 S.E.2d at 293, *cf Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 33-34, 644 S.E.2d 663, 673 (2007)(declining to sever unconscionable terms of an arbitration agreement because only a disintegrated fragment of the agreement would remain).

Accordingly, even accepting Appellant's strained interpretation of the Arbitration Agreement as true, the Arbitration Agreement is not presumptively unenforceable as the statutes of limitations set forth in S.C. Code §15-3-20 et seq. applies to this action. The two sentences identified by the Appellants have no bearing on the parties' mutual agreement to submit claims to binding arbitration.

In summary, the Appellants failed to identify facts showing that they will not be able to assert their claims in an unbiased arbitration before unbiased arbitrators. Given South Carolina's heavy presumption in favor of arbitrability, the Circuit Court correctly decided the current motion in favor of arbitration. *See, Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013) (quoting *Am. Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging, Inc.*, 96 F.3d 88, 94 (4th Cir. 1996) (quoting *Peoples Sec. Life Ins. Co. v. Monumental Life Ins. Co.*, 867 F.2d 809, 812 (4th Cir. 1989))).

B. The Circuit Court correctly held that the Appellants' "Limited Warranty" claims were subject to arbitration

"Arbitration is a matter of contract[,] and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit." *New Hope Missionary Baptist Church*, 379 S.C. at 627, 667 S.E.2d at 4. "A clause which provides for arbitration of all disputes 'arising out of or relating to' the contract is construed broadly." *Landers v. FDIC*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213-14 (2013) (citing *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 87 S.Ct. 1801, 18 L.Ed.2d 1270 (1967)).

Courts have consistently held that broad arbitration clauses "appl[y] to disputes in which a significant relationship exists between the asserted claims and the contract in which the arbitration clause is contained." *Id.* at 109, 739 S.E.2d at 214. "Thus, the scope of the clause does not limit arbitration to the literal interpretation or performance of the contract but embraces every dispute

between the parties having a significant relationship to the contract.” *Id.* (alterations and internal quotation marks omitted). Accordingly, the “court must determine whether the factual allegations underlying the claim are within the scope of the broad arbitration clause, regardless of the label assigned to the claim.” *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001).

In her order, Judge Benjamin held that all four causes of action initiated by the Appellants were subject to mandatory arbitration under the broad Arbitration Agreement. This includes Appellants’ claim that the Limited Warranty contained within the Contract is unenforceable. (R.).

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